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on the merits.  Accordingly, the United States respectfully requests that this Court enjoin 

Defendants from further implementing the Merger Agreement by temporarily suspending it. 

ARGUMENT 

All four elements required for a preliminary injunction are met here: (1) the plaintiff is 

likely to succeed on the merits; (2) competition for the OPTIMAL DECISION contract is likely to 

suffer irreparable harm in the absence of preliminary relief;5 (3) the balance of equities tips in the 

United States’ favor; and (4) an injunction is in the public interest.  See generally Pl.’s Mem. in 

Supp. of Prelim. Inj. Mot. (“Mot.”) (ECF 29-1, July 7, 2022); Pl.’s Reply Br. In Supp. of Prelim. 

Inj. Mot. (“Reply Br.”) (ECF 100, Aug. 12, 2022).6  The following discussion establishes that 

United States is entitled to relief. 

I. The United States Is Likely to Succeed on the Merits 

A. The Merger Agreement is an Unreasonable Restraint of Trade 

The anticompetitive effect of the agreement between Booz Allen and EverWatch is 

obvious, as evidence at the hearing will demonstrate and as deposition testimony and document 

discovery has already confirmed.  See Mot. 23-26; Reply Br. 5-6.  Booz Allen and EverWatch 

agreed to merge, even though they are (and knew they are) the only two bidders for the OPTIMAL 

DECISION7 contract.  See Ex. 1, BAH_DOJ_00033314 (March 16, 2022 email from Booz Allen 

manager overseeing the preparation of Booz Allen’s bid, bragging that  

).  The reduced incentives to compete against each other’s merger partner in this 

                                                           
5 As discussed in the United States’ briefing on its Motion for a Preliminary Injunction, there is a 
presumption of irreparable harm for claims brought under 15 U.S.C. § 1 (“Section 1”) brought by 
the United States.  
6 A longer recitation of the legal standards and case law applicable to the United States’ preliminary 
injunction motion and this Court’s authority to issue relief are contained therein.  For the Court’s 
convenience, the United States does not repeat these citations here. 
7 The OPTIMAL DECISION contract is often referred to as “OD” in deposition testimony and 
exhibits. 
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situation are evident.  See infra 13-19; see also, e.g., Ex. 2, BAH_DOJ_00047180 (Mar. 16, 2022 

email from Booz Allen manager overseeing the preparation of Booz Allen’s bid, stating: 

“ ”).  This 

merger-to-monopoly violates Section 1 of the Sherman Act.  See United States v. Rockford 

Memorial Corp., 898 F.2d 1278, 1283 (noting that Section 1 of the Sherman Act “prevent[s] 

transactions likely to reduce competition substantially.”). 

Regardless of whether the Court’s application of the rule of reason relies on a detailed 

market analysis or the abbreviated “quick look” analysis that applies to plainly anticompetitive 

restraints, the evidence will show that the Merger Agreement violated Section 1 of the Sherman 

Act.8  See Mot. 16-17.9  Under the detailed market analysis, a plaintiff can meet its burden of 

demonstrating Defendants’ Merger Agreement unreasonably restrains competition substantially 

by either (1) direct “proof of actual detrimental effects,”10 or (2) indirect proof of anticompetitive 

effects, including evidence of market power, such as market share in a relevant market, “plus some 

evidence that the challenged restraint harms competition.”  Ohio v. Am. Express Co., 138 S. Ct. 

2274, 2284 (2018) (citations omitted).  The United States easily meets each burden here. 

 

 

 

                                                           
8  See United States v. First Nat. Bank & Tr. Co. of Lexington, 376 U.S. 665, 671-672 (1964) 
(“[W]here merging companies are major competitive factors in a relevant market, the elimination 
of significant competition between them, by merger or consolidation, itself constitutes a violation 
of § 1 of the Sherman Act.”). 
9 The United States will not focus on the “quick look” analysis as the evidence for it is subsumed 
by the full rule-of-reason analysis.  The legal standards for a “quick look” analysis are explained 
in Plaintiff’s prior briefing.  See Mot. 16-17. 
10  As discussed infra, the Merger Agreement’s adverse effect on pricing and quality satisfies the 
actual-detrimental-effects prong.   
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 7 

services that were contemplated in the draft RFP that was released to Booz Allen and EverWatch 

in May 2021.17   

There is no reasonable substitute for these services, which are critical to NSA.  As 

explained supra, the relevant services necessarily require experience with and knowledge of 

signals intelligence, and very few vendors can satisfy those requirements.  In any event, as a matter 

of law, NSA’s preferences—as the primary customer—defines the relevant market as signals 

intelligence modeling and simulation services.  See Grumman Corp., 527 F. Supp. at 89-90 

(concluding that the Navy, as the consumer of carrier-suitable aircraft, defines the relevant market 

for such).  See also Reply Br. 9 n.10. 

Nor is another extension of the MASON III contract a reasonable substitute for signals 

intelligence modeling and simulation services under OPTIMAL DECISION.  Delays in the 

issuance of OPTIMAL DECISION risk the loss of key employees.  Dunshee Decl. ¶ 10.  And if 

NSA were to negotiate another extension of MASON III, it would be forced to negotiate solely 

with Booz Allen, a monopolist with the ability to increase prices and costs to NSA.  NSA has 

already extended MASON III several times—and for each extension, Booz Allen faced no 

competition and raised prices.   Dep. 228:15-19; Kevin Y. Dep. 98:5-8, 98:22-25; 

Deposition of Diane Dunshee (Aug. 18, 2022) (“Dunshee Dep.”) 123:4-8 (“  

 

”).  Booz Allen plans to increase prices again if the MASON contract 

                                                           
17 The Booz Allen and EverWatch bid teams are well aware of the scope of the draft RFP for 
OPTIMAL DECISION, and both have made personnel and strategic decisions based on 
assumptions of what the final RFP would look like.  See, e.g.,  Dep. 18:18-22, 50:10-
52:2;  Dep. 23:18-24.  Accordingly, both the methodology for determining a product 
market and the facts already disclosed to defendants in draft RFPs, demonstrate that any changes 
to the precise terms of the final OPTIMAL DECISION RFP or contract have no material bearing 
on the United States’ alleged product-market definition. 
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 14 

Indeed, two weeks after completing antitrust training, Booz Allen’s bid manager told 

another employee: “  

 

”   Dep. 144:13-

145:1 (discussing BAH_DOJ_00047426, BAH_DOJ_0047500; BAH_DOJ_00047338, 

BAH_DOJ_00047315, and BAH_DOJ_0004733).  See also BAH_DOJ_00019879 (Apr. 11, 2022 

email from Mr.  

).  See also  Dep. 280:3-6 (  

 

”). 

Still many weeks and months later, EverWatch and Booz Allen considered the possibility 

of pulling bids and  the OPTIMAL DECISION contract.29  Indeed, Booz Allen’s 

Executive Vice President  wrote to EverWatch on June 10, 2022, through an 

intermediary, “  

”  Ex. 16, EW-CID-0000450.  An EverWatch board director responded that 

EverWatch would discuss “  

”  Id.  See also Reply Br. 13-14.  As discussed supra, and because it 

knows Booz Allen is its only competitor, EverWatch manufactured one “ ” in 

propping up Red Alpha to prime as discussed above.  Such machinations exemplify Booz Allen 

and EverWatch’s power over competition and the bidding process and underscore the need for this 

Court to grant injunctive relief.  

                                                           
29 Defendants referred to this as “good-faith compromise,” Opp’n 13, but this so-called 
“compromise” would eliminate all bids for an important national-security contract. 
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Notwithstanding this evidence, Defendants may suggest that their incentives would not 

change because there is always uncertainty over the closing of a deal.  Again, evidence 

demonstrates that that is simply not true.  For instance, in an earnings call shortly after the proposed 

merger was announced, Booz Allen’s Chief Financial Officer told its investors that Booz Allen 

“ .”  See 

 Dep. 136:1-8. 

Where there is meaningful competition, firms have to offer a competitive price (or quality) 

that strikes a balance between beating competition and maximizing profits.  The Merger 

Agreement, however, eliminates the need to offer a competitive price, leaving the firm to pursue 

profit maximization without a constraint.  This is exemplified by Booz Allen’s negotiations for 

each iteration of the MASON contract which, as discussed supra, resulted in repeated increases in 

price.  Without the relief granted here, Booz Allen, as the heir apparent to OPTIMAL DECISION, 

will be guided only by unconstrained profit maximization when bidding on the OPTIMAL 

DECISION.  Accordingly, the Merger Agreement has—and will—effect the marketplace for 

signals intelligence modeling and simulation at great expense to NSA, the United States, and the 

American taxpayer.  

4. The reduced incentive to compete is likely to result in other anticompetitive 
effects, including increased price and diminished quality  

The evidence will likely show price and quality effects resulting from Defendants’ reduced 

incentives.  See Mot. 3, 25-27; Reply Br. 11, 13, 19 n.23.  

The OPTIMAL DECISION contract is a “best value” contract, meaning that the decision 

to award a contract is based on both cost and non-cost factors (i.e., quality).  See Dep’t of Def. 

Source Selection Procedures § 3.9.  As a result, NSA will compare both cost and quality factors 

between two competitive proposals.  Defendants may argue (incorrectly) that the “NSA controls 
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 22 

although Booz Allen is a massive company, EverWatch is not.  One year of revenue from 

OPTIMAL DECISION would account for a substantial portion of percent of EverWatch’s 2021 

revenues.  Securing OPTIMAL DECISION would be substantial for EverWatch and thus, in the 

absence of the transaction, provide them a strong incentive to compete aggressively to win the 

award. Finally, even if Booz Allen wanted to buy EverWatch for other reasons, those reasons 

would not excuse the loss of competition that is likely to result if this deal is not suspended.  

II. The United States Would be Irreparably Harmed Absent a Preliminary 
Injunction 

The United States is requesting a temporary suspension of the Merger Agreement until 

there is resolution following a full trial on the merits, which will restore pre-Merger Agreement 

competition for OPTIMAL DECISION.35  Anything less than suspension of the Merger 

Agreement (or outright termination), which would permit either Booz Allen and EverWatch the 

opportunity to abandon the merger without breaching the Merger Agreement and to continue to 

bid on OPTIMAL DECISION independently, will not suffice to stop the ongoing harm.  

Defendants have reduced incentives to compete now even while they continue to advance the 

merger process: continuing the process of integration planning, making offers employment related 

to the merger, transferring funds or establishing escrow accounts, obtaining financing, and 

notifying subcontractors, vendors, suppliers, or customers.  Defendants, in other words, are 

assembling their proposed final bids for the OPTIMAL DECISION contract with the expectation 

that the merger may go forward.  Without a suspension of the Merger Agreement, NSA faces a 

                                                           
35 Defendants may make much ado about the change in nomenclature between “abrogation,” Mot. 
31, and our current use of the phrase “temporary suspension” and suggest that the United States is 
backtracking.  It is not.  The United States seeks a preliminary injunction to restore the pre-Merger 
Agreement competitive landscape between Defendants.  See Reply Br. 19-20.   
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Hobson’s choice: It will either have to choose award OPTIMAL DECISION to an anticompetitive 

bid or delay the release of the final OPTIMAL DECISION RFP at great cost. 

Defendants may argue that a temporary suspension will “kill” Booz Allen’s proposed 

acquisition of EverWatch.  But that makes no sense. “If the merger makes economic sense now, 

[Defendants] have offered no reason why it would not do so later.”   FTC v. H.J. Heinz, 116 F. 

Supp. 2d 190, 201, n.9 (D.D.C. 2000). A preliminary injunction is the only way to end the 

continuing harm to competition created by the Merger Agreement.  The OPTIMAL DECISION 

RFP will be released imminently, and Defendants will be preparing their bids.  If Defendants put 

forward bids while their incentives are significantly reduced, full relief will be impossible.  See 

Mot. 30-31 (citing Christian Schmidt Brewing Co. v. G. Heileman Brewing Co., 600 F. Supp. 

1326, 1332 (E.D. Mich. 1985) (“If preliminary relief is not awarded and the merger is subsequently 

found to be unlawful, it would be extremely difficult, if at all possible, to remedy effectively the 

unlawful merger.”).  For the reasons explained in more detail below, any other remedies that 

Defendants may propose—such as enacting a firewall between the bidding teams of the two 

companies or providing personal bonus incentives to winning bid team members—are not 

structural remedies that can restore these reduced incentives.  Defendants must be enjoined from 

taking any actions in furtherance of the Merger Agreement until there has been a full trial on the 

merits.  

Suspending the Merger Agreement is well within the ambit of this Court’s authority.  

Indeed, “[t]he proper remedy for a section 1 violation based on an agreement to restrain trade is to 

set the offending agreement aside.  From the standpoint of preliminary injunctive relief, “that 

would mean ordering [defendants] not to implement . . . their . . . agreements.”  Authenticom, Inc. 

v. CDK Glob., LLC, 874 F.3d 1019, 1026 (7th Cir. 2017).  See De Beers Consol. Mines v. United 
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States, 325 U.S. 212, 220 (1945) (“A preliminary injunction is always appropriate to grant 

intermediate relief of the same character as that which may be granted finally.”). 

1. Delaying the release of the final RFP would not prevent irreparable harm 

NSA is unable to further delay the release of the final RFP without irreparable harm.  See 

supra 7.  NSA has tried multiple times to seek more prime contractors to no avail.  See supra 11.  

That is because the barriers to entry are extremely high for a new entrant to meaningfully 

compete.  See supra 5.   

2. Extending the current MASON III contract would not prevent irreparable harm 

Extending the MASON III does not avoid this irreparable harm: it guarantees it.  NSA 

would merely be extending Booz Allen’s monopoly over the MASON III contract, giving Booz 

Allen yet another opportunity to increase prices well beyond NSA’s pre-negotiation objective.36  

See supra 7-8. 

3. Only a preliminary injunction pending a full trial on the merits will avoid 
irreparable harm 

Because MASON III expires in March 2023, and it will take months to fully bring the 

winner of OPTIMAL DECISION on board, NSA must issue the RFP in the near future or else be 

forced to extend MASON III.  Failure to issue the RFP would endanger NSA’s ability to acquire 

critical signals intelligence modeling and simulation services.  Under these circumstances, NSA 

must either negotiate with Booz Allen alone to extend MASON III or negotiate with either Booz 

Allen or EverWatch—who plan to merge—to receive these services.  Delaying the RFP or 

extending MASON III does not avoid either scenario.  A preliminary injunction of the Merger 

Agreement, by contrast, guarantees that NSA will be able to negotiate with two, independent 

                                                           
36  See Chicu Decl. ¶ 57 (“[I]n an extension of the MASON III contract for one year, Booz Allen 
was able to negotiate a total cost 5.6% above NSA’s pre-negotiation objective . . . .”).  
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competitors and receive competitive bids for signals intelligence modeling and simulation 

services.  See also Mot. 29-33; Reply Br. 17-19.   

III. The Balance of Equities and Public Interest Favor a Preliminary Injunction  

Preservation of competition is the “central purpose of the antitrust laws, state and federal,” 

and “vital to public interest,”  Glen Holly Ent., Inc. v. Tektronix Inc., 352 F.3d 367, 373 (9th Cir. 

2003); F.T.C. v. Swedish Match N. Am. Inc., 131 F. Supp. 2d 151, 173 (D.D.C. 2000) (“There is a 

strong public interest in effective enforcement of the antitrust laws.”), and is “not easily 

outweighed by private interests.”  United States v. Columbia Pictures Indus., Inc., 507 F. Supp. 

412, 434 (S.D.N.Y. 1980).  Issuing a preliminary injunction here ensures that Booz Allen and 

EverWatch remain distinct and separate competitors, therefore preserving competition.  See Mot. 

34-35; Reply Br. 20. 

In considering a preliminary injunction, “[t]he principal public equity in weighing in favor 

of . . . relief is the public interest in effective enforcement of the antitrust laws.”  F.T.C. v. H.J. 

Heinz Co., 246 F.3d 708, 726 (D.C. Cir. 2001).  Further, “[a]ny doubt concerning the necessity of 

the safeguarding of the public interest should be resolved by the granting of a preliminary 

injunction.”  Columbia Pictures Indus., Inc., 507 F. Supp. at 434 (granting United States’ motion 

for a preliminary injunction on Section 1 a claim).  Preventing the elimination of an effective 

competitor “is sufficient to satisfy the public interest criterion.”  Marathon Oil Co. v. Mobil Corp., 

530 F. Supp. 315, 320 (N.D. Ohio 1981).  Accordingly, Booz Allen’s attempt to eliminate 

EverWatch as a meaningful competitor here is the exact scenario warranting injunctive relief.   

IV. Defendants’ Proposed Order Would Not Restore the Competitive Intensity that 
Would Occur Absent the Merger Agreement 

Plaintiff seeks a simple solution to Defendants’ attempt to combine the only two bidders 

for OPTIMAL DECISION on the cusp of bidding: to temporarily suspend the merger agreement 
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pending resolution following a full trial on the merits. See Pls.’ Proposed Order (ECF. 29-17, July 

7, 2022).  This solution gives Defendants the ability to walk away from the Merger Agreement 

without triggering a breach-of-contract claim and to continue to bid on OPTIMAL DECISION, 

albeit independently.  By contrast, Defendants have proposed a complex set of behavioral remedies 

that do not cure the competitive problem.  Rather, Defendants’ made-for-litigation proposal 

represents a flawed, regulatory solution that would allow the Defendants to close and guarantee 

Booz Allen with the spoils of OPTIMAL DECISION—among other things, everyone bidding on 

the contract under Defendants’ proposal would know that.  See Hearing Tr. 34:9-36:18; Ex. 22, 

(Defendants’ Proposed Order).37  As Plaintiff will explain in more detail at the forthcoming 

hearing, including through testimony from Dr. Mark Chicu, Defendants’ Proposed Order fails to 

restore the “competitive intensity” that would exist but for the merger agreement and should be 

rejected.  See United States v. Aetna Inc., 240 F. Supp. 3d 1, 60 (D.D.C. Jan. 23, 2017).38 

The Supreme Court instructs that “[t]he relief in an antitrust case must be ‘effective to 

redress the violations’ and ‘to restore competition.’”  Ford Motor Co. v. United States, 405 U.S. 

562, 573 (1972) (quoting United States v. Du Pont & Co., 366 U.S. 316, 326 (1961)).  Courts 

routinely find behavioral promises, like Defendants’ promises to construct and maintain separate 

bidding teams within the merged firm, inadequate to rebut the predicted anticompetitive effects of 

a merger.  See, e.g., F.T.C. v. H.J. Heinz Co., 246 F.3d 708, 721 (D.C. Cir. 2001) (viewing 

                                                           
37 Defendants provided their Proposed Order to the Court during the hearing on August 30, 2022—
after the close of fact discovery—which effectively precluded fact discovery as to their proposal. 
See Hearing Tr. 34:2-12. 
38 Defendants attempted to justify their Proposed Order by comparing it to other settlements the 
Antitrust Division has reached.  Those earlier settlements—especially the Hold Separate 
agreements they contained—were designed to ensure the success of a divestiture remedy that was 
intended to replace lost competition, not to serve as the basis for what is at stake here—curing 
competitive harm. 
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behavioral promises with skepticism where merger reduces competition structurally); United 

States v. H&R Block, Inc., 833 F. Supp. 2d 36, 82 (D.D.C. 2011) (rejecting offer to freeze prices 

because, while there was “no reason to doubt that defendants would honor their promise, this type 

of guarantee cannot rebut a likelihood of anticompetitive effects in this case”); FTC v. Cardinal 

Health, Inc., 12 F. Supp. 2d 34, 65 (D.D.C. 1998) (“Defendants’ guarantees alone cannot cure the 

likely anti-competitive effects of the mergers.”). 

As explained above, Plaintiff will demonstrate through fact testimony, documents, and the 

expert testimony of Dr. Chicu, the merger agreement between Booz Allen and EverWatch, upon 

its signing, reduced the companies’ economic incentives to compete to provide NSA with signals 

intelligence modeling and simulation support services in violation of Section 1 of the Sherman 

Act.  As discussed, Plaintiff has proposed a simple and effective solution: to temporarily suspend 

the merger agreement pending resolution following a full trial on the merits, restoring competition 

between Booz Allen and EverWatch.  See generally Pls.’ Proposed Order. 

By contrast, as mentioned, Defendants propose a complex, multi-part behavioral 

commitment.  See Ex. 22, (Defendants’ Proposed Order).  But Defendants’ Proposed Order does 

nothing to change the fundamental fact that if the merger agreement has not been suspended, the 

members of both bidding teams will know that Booz Allen will likely acquire the OPTIMAL 

DECISION contract no matter who wins the bid initially. Defendants have not offered a solution 

that would solve this fundamental problem.  

Defendants’ Proposed Order is also replete with other problematic elements, including that 

Defendants propose that Booz Allen rely on self-reporting by specified individuals that they are 

“not aware of any violation of the [Proposed] Order.”  Ex. 22 (Defendants’ Proposed Order)at 5.  

In short, Defendants’ Proposed Order sets out to do something that would be very difficult if not 
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impossible—to artificially re-create meaningful competition by contract within a single merged 

company—and then misses the mark with insufficient incentives, vague language, and inadequate 

monitoring. 

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, and in the United States’ Motion for a Preliminary 

Injunction and Memorandum of Law in Support, the Court should issue a Preliminary Injunction 

temporarily suspending Defendants’ Merger Agreement pending a final trial on the merits.  
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Dated this 9th day of September, 2022. 
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